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I am the kit fox,

I live in uncertainty.

If there is anything difficult,

If there is anything dangerous to do,
That is mine.

Sioux warriors song
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AUTHOR NOTE



The events recounted in this book are based on more than one hundred interviews of Afghan soldiers, Afghan civilians, U.S. soldiers, and U.S. civilians. These interviews, some of which were in-depth and stretched over a series of days, took place in Afghanistan and in the United States. Most dwelled on the subjects firsthand recollections of events related in this book. In addition, the author traveled in the region described in these pages and in particular inspected the Qala-i-Janghi Fortress. The authors research also included examination of personal journals, previously published media accounts, contemporaneous photography, and voluminous official U.S. military logs and histories.

Many of the events described in Horse Soldiers transpired under extreme circumstances, some of them traumatic to those who experienced them. For these reasons and perhaps because memory is often imperfect, the recollections of some of the participants conflicted at times. While the author has made every attempt to present an accurate portrait of the events involved, he has related the version that seemed most consistent with other accounts.
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PROLOGUE

UPRISING



Qala-i-Janghi Fortress
 Mazar-i-Sharif, Afghanistan

November 2425, 2001



Trouble came in the night, riding out of the dust and the darkness. Trouble rolled past the refugee camp, past the tattered tents shuddering in the moonlight, the lone cry of a baby driving high into the sky, like a nail. Sunrise was no better; at sunrise, trouble was still there, bristling with AKs and RPGs, engines idling, waiting to roll into the city. Waiting.

These were the baddest of the bad, the real masters of mayhem, the death dealers with God stamped firmly in their minds. The city groaned and shook to life. Soon everyone knew trouble had arrived at the gates of the city.

Major Mark Mitchell heard the news at headquarters nine miles away and thought, Youre kidding. We got bad guys at the wire?

He ran downstairs, looking for Master Sergeant Dave Betz. Maybe he would know what was happening.

But Betz didnt know anything. He blustered, One of the Agency guys came down and told us we got six hundred Taliban surrendering. Can you believe that?

Surrendering? Mitchell couldnt figure out why. He thought the Taliban had fled from the approaching forces of the Northern Alliance to Konduz, miles away. American Special Forces and the Northern Alliance had been beating them back for weeks, in battle after battle, rolling up territory by coordinating airstrikes from the sky and thousands of Northern Alliance soldiers on the ground. They now stood on the verge of total victory. Konduz was where the war was supposed to go next. Not here. Not in Mazar. Not at Club Mez.

Besides, these guys didnt surrender. They fought to the death.

Die fighting and you went to paradise.



Mitchell stood at the dirty plate-glass windows and watched. Here they came, a motley crew of the doomed, packed into six big trucks, staring out from the rancid tunnels of their scarves. Mitchell could see their heads over the barricade that ringed his headquarters, a former schoolhouse at the junk-strewn edge of the city. The prisonerswho surely included some Al Qaeda memberswere still literally in the drivers seats, with Northern Alliance soldiers sitting next to them, their AKs pointed at the drivers heads. The prisoners turned and stared and Mitchell thought it was like looking at hundreds of holes punched in a wall.

Everybody get away from the windows! said Betz.

Major Kurt Sonntag, Captain Kevin Leahy, Captain Paul Syverson, and a dozen other Special Forces soldiers knelt behind the black and white checked columns in the room, their M-4 rifles aimed at the street. Behind them, in the kitchen, the local cook was putteringthe air smelled of cooked rice and cucumberand a radio was playing more of that god-awful Afghan music that sounded to Mitchell like somebody strangling a goose.

He had been looking forward this morning to overseeing the construction of the medical facility in town, and the further blowing up of mines and bombs that littered the area like confetti. Each day, a little bit more of the war seemed to be ending. Mitchell had even started to wonder when he would get to go home. He and a team of about a dozen Special Forces soldiers had moved into the schoolhouse only forty-eight hours earlier. Their former headquarters inside the Qala-i-Janghi Fortress, nine miles off, in Mazars western quarter, had given them the shits, the croup, and the flu, and Mitchell was glad to have moved out. It seemed a haunted place. Known as the House of War, the fortress rose like a mud golem from the desert, surrounded by struggling plots of wind-whipped corn and sparse cucumber. Its walls towered sixty feet high and measured thirty feet thick under the hard, indifferent sun.


The Taliban had occupied the fortress for seven years and filled it with weaponsgrenades, rockets, and firearms, anything made for killing. Even Enfield rifles with dates stamped on the bayonets1913from the time that the Brits had occupied the area. Before their hurried flight from the city two weeks earlier, the Taliban had left the weapons and smeared feces on the walls and windows. Every photograph, every painting, every rosebush had been torn up, smashed, stomped, ruined. Nothing beautiful had been left behind.

After three years of Taliban rule, there were old men in Mazar with stumps for hands. There were women whod been routinely stoned and kicked on street corners. Young men whod been imprisoned for not wearing beards. Fathers whod been beaten in front of their sons for the apparent pleasure of those swinging their weapons.

The arrival of Mitchell and his soldiers on horseback had put an end to that. The people of Mazar-i-Sharif, the rugmakers and butchers, the car mechanics and schoolteachers, the bank clerks and masons and farmers, had thrown flowers and kisses and reached up to the Americans on their horses and pulled affectionately at the filthy cuffs of their camo pants. The locals had welcomed the balding, blue-eyed Mitchell and two dozen other Special Forces soldiers in a mile-long parade lining the highway that dropped into town out of the snowy mountains. Mitchell had felt like he was back in World War II, his grandfathers war, riding into Paris after the Nazis fled.

Now thirty-six, Mitchell was the ground commander of the Fifth Special Forces Group/Third Battalions Forward Operating Base (FOB). It had been a distinguished nearly fifteen-year career headed for the top of the military food chain. His best friend, Major Kurt Sonntag, a thirty-seven-year-old former weekend surfer from Los Angeles, was the FOBs executive officer, which technically meant he was Mitchells boss. In the tradition of Special Forces, they treated each other as equals. Nobody saluted, including less senior officers like Captain Kevin Leahy and Captain Paul Syverson, members of the support company whose job it was to get the postwar operations up and running, such as providing drinking water, electricity, and medical care to the locals.

Looking at the street now, Mitchell tried to figure out why the Taliban convoy was stopping. If anything went bad, Mitchell knew he was woefully outnumbered. He had maybe a dozen guys he could call on. And those like Leahy and Syverson werent exactly hardened killers. Like him, these were staff guys, in their mid-thirties, soldiers who had until now been largely warless. He did have a handful of CIA operators living upstairs in the schoolhouse and eight Brits, part of a Special Boat Service unit whod landed the night before by Chinook helicopter, but they were so new that they didnt have orders for rules of engagementthat is, it wasnt clear to them when they could and could not return fire. Doing the math, Mitchell roughly figured that he had about a dozen guys available to fight. The trained-up fighters, the two Special Forces teams that Mitchell had ridden into town with, had left earlier in the day for Konduz, for the expected fight there. Mitchell had watched them drive away and felt that he was missing out on a chance to make history. Hed been left behind to run the headquarters office and keep the peace. Now, after learning that 600 Taliban soldiers had massed outside his door, he wondered if hed been dead wrong.

The street bustled with beeping taxis; with donkeys hauling loads of handmade bricks to the city-center bazaar; with aged men gliding by on wobbling bicycles and women ghosting through the rising dust in blue burkhas. Afghanistan. Never failed to amaze him.

Still the convoy hadnt moved. Ten minutes had passed.

Without warning, a group of locals piled toward the trucks, angrily grabbing at the prisoners. They got hold of one man and pulled him downfor a moment he was there, gripping the battered wooden side of the truck, and then he was gone, snatched out of sight. Behind the truck, out of sight, they were beating the man to death.

Every ounce of rage, every rape, every public execution, every amputation, humiliationevery ounce of revenge was poured back into this man, slathered on by fist, by foot, by gnarled stick. The trucks lurched ahead and when they moved on, nothing remained of the man. It was as if hed been eaten.

The radio popped to life. Mitchell listened as a Northern Alliance commander, who was stationed on the highway, announced in broken English: The prisoners all going to Qala-i-Janghi.

Remembering the enormous pile of weapons cached at the fortress, Mitchell didnt want to hear this. But his hands were tied. The Afghan commanders of the Northern Alliance were, as a matter of U.S. strategy, calling the shots. No matter the Americans might, this was the Afghans show. Mitchell was in Mazar to assist the locals in taking down the Taliban. He figured he could get on a radio and suggest to the Afghan commander presiding over the surrender that the huge fortress would not be an ideal place to house six hundred angry Taliban and Al Qaeda soldiers. But maybe there was a good reason to send them there. As long as the prisoners were searched and guarded closely, maybe they could be held securely within the forts towering mud walls.

And then Mitchell thought again of the weapons stockpiled at Qala-i-Janghi, the piles and piles of rockets, rifles, crates of ammotons of violence ready to be put to use.

Not the fort, he thought. Not the damn fort!



Belching smoke, grinding gears, the convoy of prisoners rumbled past the fortresss dry moat and through the tall, arched entrance. The prisoners in the trucks craned around like blackbirds on a wire, scanning the walls, looking for guards, looking for an easy way out.

In deference to the Muslim prohibition against men touching other men intimately, few of the prisoners had been thoroughly searched. No hand had reached deep inside the folds of their thin gray gowns, the mismatched suit coats, the dirty khaki vests, searching for a knife, a grenade, a garrote. Killer had smiled at captor and captor had waved him on, Tashakur. Thank you. Tashakur.

The line of six trucks halted inside the fort, and the prisoners stepped down under the watchful eye of a dozen or so Northern Alliance guards. Suddenly one prisoner pulled a grenade from the belly-band of his blouse and blew himself up, taking a Northern Alliance officer with him. The guards fired their rifles in the air and regained control. Then they immediately herded the prisoners to a rose-colored, plaster-sided building aptly nicknamed the Pink House, which squatted nearby in the rocks and thorns. The structure had been built by the Soviets in the 1980s as a hospital within the bomb-hardened walls of the fortress.

The fort was immense, a walled city divided equally into southern and northern courtyards. Inside was a gold-domed mosque, some horse stables, irrigation ditches encircling plots of corn and wheat, and shady groves of tall, fragrant pine trees whipping in the stiff winds. The thick walls held secret hallways and compartments, and led to numerous storage rooms for grain and other valuables. The Taliban had cached an enormous pile of weapons in the southern compound in a dozen mud-walled horse stables, each as big as a one-car garage and topped with a dome-shaped roof. The stables were crammed to the rafters with rockets, RPGs, machine guns, and mortars. But there were more weapons. Six metal Conex trailers, like the kind semitrucks haul down interstates in the United States, also sat nearby, stuffed with even more guns and explosives.

The fortress had been built in 1889 by Afghans, taking some eighteen thousand workers twelve years to complete, during an era of British incursions. It was a place built to be easily defended, a place to weather a siege.

At each of the corners rose a mud parapet, a towerlike structure, some 80 feet high and 150 feet across, and built strong enough to support the weight of 10-ton tanks, which could be driven onto the parapet up long, gradual mud ramps rising from the fortress floor. Along the parapet walls, rectangular gunports, about twelve inches tall, were cut into the three-foot-thick mudlarge enough to accommodate the swing of a rifle barrel at any advancing hordes below.

In all, the fort measured some 600 yards longabout one third of a mileand 300 yards wide.

At the north end, a red-carpeted balcony stretched high above the courtyard. Wide and sunlit, it resembled a promenade, overlooking a swift stream bordered by a black wrought-iron fence and rose gardens that had been destroyed by the Taliban. Behind the balcony, double doors opened onto long hallways, offices, and living quarters.

At each end of the forts central wall, which divided the interior into the two large courtyards, sat two more tall parapets, equally fitted for observation and defense with firing ports. A narrow, packed foot trail, about three feet wide, ran around the entire rim along the protective, outer wall. In places, a thick mud wall, waist-high, partially shielded the walker from the interior of the courtyard, making it possible to move along the top of the wall and pop up and shoot either down into the fort, or up over the outer wall at attackers coming from the outside.

In the middle of the southern courtyard, which was identical to the northern one (except for the balcony and offices overlooking it), sat the square-shaped Pink House. It was small, measuring about 75 feet on each side, too small a space for the six hundred prisoners who were ordered by Northern Alliance soldiers down the stairs and into its dark basement, where they were packed tight like matchsticks, one against another.

There, down in a dank corner, on a dirt floor that smelled of worms and sweat, brooded a young American. His friends knew him by the name of Abdul Hamid. He had walked for several days to get to this moment of surrender, which he hoped would finally lead him home to California. He was tired, hungry, his chest pounding, skipping a beat, like a washing machine out of balance. He worried that he was going to have a heart attack, a scary thought at age twenty-one.

Around him, he could hear men praying as they unfolded hidden weapons from the long, damp wings of their clothing.



The following morning, November 25, two CIA paramilitary officers, Dave Olson and Mike Spann, kitted up at headquarters in Mazar and prepared to drive across town to the fort. Both men hoped to interrogate as many prisoners as possible.

Mitchell was in the school cafeteria, drinking chai and eating nan, a delicious, chewy flat bread, when Spann and Olson walked up. Mitchell knew Olson the better of the two. Spann, a former Marine artillery officer, had joined the Agency three years earlier. He wore blue jeans and a black sweater, and was of medium height, with severe cheekbones and a crooked smile, his blond hair cut close. Olson was tall and burly, with a thin salt and pepper beard over an old case of acne. He spoke excellent Dari, the glottal, hissing language of the local Northern Alliance fighters, and he was dressed in a black, knee-length blouse, called a shalwar kameez, over beige pants.

Mitchell noticed immediately that the two CIA guys werent carrying enough ammunition. For whatever reasons, they had about four ammo magazines between them. Mitchell preferred the standard operating procedure of bringing four magazines apiece on a mission. Olson and Spann carried folding-stock AK-47s slung over their shoulders and 9mm pistols strapped in holsters on their legs. Spann carried another pistol tucked at the small of his back in his pants waistband. Neither man had a radio, which Mitchell also thought was strange. But then again, these CIA guys had always brought their own party with them. He figured that whatever Olson and Spann were doing this morning, it was their own educated business.

Olson announced, Were going out to Qala to talk to these guys, see what we can find out.

The previous night, there had been a brief gunfight outside the schoolhouse, and Mitchell, sensing that the situation in the city was increasingly tense, had asked Olson if he himself and a couple of his men could go and provide security while the two CIA officers conducted their interrogations at Qala. Mitchell knew that interrogating prisoners was officially the CIAs job, but he was worried about his friends safety. No, said Olson, you guys need to stay away. To Mitchells thinking, he was a bit nonchalant about the whole thing.

All three men knew that the prisoners included many hard cases: Chechnyans, Pakistanis, Saudisthe epicenter of Al Qaeda. The men who had surrendered were the heart of Osama bin Ladens most skilled army. Maybejust maybeone of them knew where bin Laden was.

Watch your back, thought Mitchell.

Olson and Spann started out the lobbys front door to a truck parked in the circular drive. Beyond the wall, the busy midmorning traffic buzzed by. The vehicle slipped into the stream of cars, trucks, and donkey carts, and was gone.

Sergeant Betz walked up and stood beside Mitchell, watching them go. He said, I dont like the looks of that.

Mitchell asked him why.

I dunno, said Betz. I like a guy to carry a lot of ammo when he leaves.

About a half hour later, Olson and Spann entered Qala.



At the fort, Abdul Hamid climbed the steps from the basement of the Pink House and blinked in the morning sun, his arms tied behind him with a turban. The stairway resembled a collapsed brick chimney as it emerged from the dark hole that reeked of piss and shit.

Abdul was led past the Pink House, the walls of the fort soaring around him. About a hundred other prisoners had already been led into the courtyard, also trussed with their own clothing, arms behind their backs, sitting cross-legged on an apron of trampled weeds twisting up from hardpan mud.

Mike Spann bent down and peered at Abdul.

For the life of him, he couldnt figure out where the kid was from or who he was. Arab? Pakistani? Canadian? He studied Abduls tattered British commando sweater, sensing that the prisonerwhat was he, twenty, twenty-three?could speak at least some passable English.

Where are you from? Spann demanded. You believe in what youre doing here that much, youre willing to be killed here?

No answer came.

Whats your name? Who brought you here to Afghanistan?

The kid on the carpet dropped his head, stared at the shalwar kameez bunched around his knees.

Put your head up! Spann yelled.

The young mans face was sunburned, his eyes the color of cold tea.

Spann let his gaze linger, and then raised a digital camera and framed a shot. The photo would be sent by encrypted satellite communications back to headquarters, where the image would be cross-referenced against a digital lineup of terrorists and known Al Qaeda soldiers.

Mike!

It was Olson, lumbering across the dusty courtyard. Hed spent the last five minutes talking with another group of prisoners. Olson towered over the young man on the ground.

Yeah, said Spann, he wont talk to meI was explaining to the guy we just want to talk to him, find out what his story is.

Well, hes a Muslim, you know, mused Olson. The problem is, hes got to decide if he wants to live or die. We can only help theguys who want to talk to us.

It was Spanns turn: Do you know the people here youre working with are terrorists, and killed other Muslims? There were several hundred Muslims killed in the bombing in New York City. Is that what the Koran teaches? Are you going to talk to us?

Then it was back to Olson: Thats all right, man. Gotta give him a chance. He got his chance.


Olson scuffed the dirt with his boot; Spann, exasperated, hands on hips, looked at the prisoner.

Finally, Spann said, Did you get a chance to look at any of the passports?

Theres a couple of Saudis, and I didnt see the others.

They agreed that the young man wasnt going to tell them anything, and the two CIA officers started walking away along a gravel path lined by pine trees toward the gate in the middle of a tall mud wall that divided the fort into its separate courtyards. They were headed to the former headquarters to regroup.

At one point, Olson turned to see Spann stopped on the path, joking with a group of Northern Alliance soldiers. He turned back and kept walking.

By the time Olson reached the middle gate he heard the explosion of a grenade, followed by a burst of gunfire. He turned.

Spann was frantically attempting to fight off a gang of prisoners who were beating at him with their fists and screaming, Allah Akbar!God is Great!

Olson started running toward Spann, and as he did so, Spann emptied his pistol into the crowd, then reached behind to the other gun, hidden in his waistband. He fired and fell to the ground under the storm of flesh.

Seeing that Spann was down and thinking he was already dead, Olson spun around to see a Taliban soldier running at him, firing from the hip with an AK-47.

Olson could hear the snap of the rounds passing and was amazed he hadnt been hit. The guy kept coming, and finally Olson, momentarily frozen on the spot, raised his pistol and shot him.

The man skidded to a stop at Olsons feet, so close Olson could almost touch him with his boot.

He next turned and fired at the crowd of people beating on Spann. He was pretty sure he killed a few of them. He sensed he was being rushed again and spun to shoot another man running at him. By now, he was out of bullets.

And so he ran. He ran down the path and into the northern courtyard, past the ruined rose garden fronting the grand balcony. He ran up the steps and into the inner courtyard, where he made a phone call, alerting Mitchell and Sonntag back at the schoolhouse.


I think Mikes dead, Olson said over the phone. I think hes dead! We are under attack. I repeat, I am receiving heavy fire! RPGs were hitting the balcony wall, rocking the place.

Back in the southern courtyard, Abdul Hamid had been shot in the leg and lay in the dirt. He tried crawling back to the basement steps, but it was too far. He wondered if hed ever see his mother again, in California. He wondered who the strange men were who had been asking him questions. He wondered if they knew his real name: John Walker Lindh.

Meanwhile, one of the prisoners walked up and fired twice, point-blank, at Mike Spann.



By the hundreds, the Taliban prisoners jumped up from the ground where theyd been ordered to sit by Spann and Olson.

They shook off the turbans binding their wrists and looked wildly around, not sure what to do next.

Up on the fortress walls, a dozen or so Northern Alliance guards were pouring fire into the courtyard, raking the hard ground, raising divots of mud, mowing men down.

Several minutes later, the prisoners found the weapons cache.

They swung open the metal doors of the long Conex trailers and beheld hundreds of rifles, grenades, and mortars, spilled at their feet.

They scooped up the weapons and scattered around the courtyard, crouching behind mud buildings, in bushes, inside storerooms built into the walls. They started returning fire. The air roared.

Wounded horses soon littered the courtyard, twitching and braying in the dust, as the hot sun beat down.

Mitchell arrived with a ground force half an hour after Olsons call. He pulled up outside the fortress gate, got out of the truck, and gazed up at the walls. He couldnt believe the intensity of the fight. Several hundred guns mustve been firing at once. Mortars started arcing over the walls and exploding around his truck.

He and his men ran to the base of the fort and started climbing.

The wall pitched skyward at about a 45-degree angle. They scuttled up hand-over-hand. At the top, out of breath, Mitchell peered at the mayhem below.

Dead men were scattered up in the grove of pine trees, blown there by grenade blasts. They hung from the tree limbs, heavy and still, like blackened ornaments.

He saw prisoners running among the trees, turning to fire up at the walls. There were six hundred of them down there, Mitchell knew. And they wanted out.

He again counted the number of his own force: fifteen men. Fifteen.

Before leaving for Afghanistan, Mitchell had been asked by his commander, How will you die? It was a blunt way of asking how he planned to stay alive. Until now, he hadnt given the answer much thought.

Massive explosions punched the sky. He figured the prisoners had finally found the mortars. It was only a matter of time before they zeroed in on the guards on the walls.

The gunfire was filled with pops, fizzles, and cracks, like the snapping of enormous bones. Mitchell worried that the fighters inside were breaking out. He expected them to pile over the top wall at any moment.

In a matter of minutes, something had gone terribly wrong. We fought so hard. And we won. But now were losing so damn quickly

He thought of his wife, then his two daughters. He had been worried that they were growing up without him. And now he thought: Theyll never know me at all.

Mitchell took out his pistol and prepared to be overrun.









PART ONE

GOING TO WAR

Comfort Inn Airport Motel South Portland, Maine

September 11, 2001




Little Bird woke.

Beside the motel bed was a small nightstand, a radio alarm clock, a Bible. Beyond that, beyond the dirty window, a parking lot filled with the cars of commuters, of people on vacation, heading to work, to their families, to the rest of their lives. It had been a peaceful night for Little Bird at the end of a long, restless year. This morning, he was going to heaven.

There is no god but one God and Muhammad is his messenger.

His real name was Mohammed Atta, the nickname given to him by his father, a stern and dour lawyer who saw Atta as soft and overly sensitive, as too frail, too lazy, too fretful. Hadnt he even timed the young Attas three-minute walks home through the streets of Cairo, after school, finding fault if he were seconds late? Little Bird, you take too long! Why?

Arrivals, departures. There is no god but one God and Muhammad is his messenger.

He rose.

Wearing jeans and a blue polo shirt, the floral bedspread smooth and shiny beneath his delicate hands, he looked like another harried tourist eager to start his day. Overhead, jet airliners roared away, taking off.




Ten minutes later Atta stood at the South Portland, Maine, airport, holding a ticket he had purchased on the Internet two weeks earlier in Las Vegas. Hed gone there for a final organizational meeting. Four days earlier, hed celebrated his birthday in a place called Shuckums Oyster House, in Hollywood, Florida. Through the night, he played pinball and drank cranberry juice and watched his fellow assassin, Marwan al-Shehhi, drink liquor and look at the women and nod to the music. He hated their touch, women. Their smell. Their sex. He had five days to live. He was thirty-three years old and hed just planned the largest attack on American soil in world history. Still, everything bored him. Eating bored him. Sleeping. Breathing. The only thing worth living for was dying.

As Atta walked through the metal detector at the Portland airport, he carried a four-page note in his pocket that read:

When you get on the aircraftthink of it [your mission] as a battle for the sake of God. Do not forgetthe true promise is near and the zero-hour had arrived. Always remember to pray if possible before reaching the target or say something like, There is no god but one God and Muhammad is his messenger.



By 5:45 a.m., he was through security, along with another assassin, Abdul Aziz al-Omari. Fifteen minutes later, Attas plane took off, and swung out over the Atlantic headed for Boston. There, Atta was to switch planes for a flight to Los Angeles on American Airlines Flight 11.

At 6:52 a.m., inside Bostons Logan International Airport, seven minutes after he landed, his cell phone rang. It was Marwan, also in the airport, calling from a nearby terminal. The two men mustve spoken quicklyIs everything ready? Yes, brother, everything is ready. There is no god but one God and we are his messengers.

And then they hung up.

By 7:40 a.m., Atta and his team of four others were seated comfortably, the jet pushing back from the gate. Thirty-four minutes later, United Flight 175, with Marwan al-Shehhi and his four comrades on board, also took off from Logan Airport in Boston.

At the same time8:14 a.m.Atta proceeded to take control of American Airlines Flight 11. He and his compatriots sprayed Mace and yelled they had a bomb on board in order to move the passengers to the rear of the plane. At 8:25, air traffic control in Boston heard a voice say: Nobody move. Everything will be okay. If you try to make any moves, youll endanger yourself and the airplane. Just stay quiet.

In first class, where the hijackers had been sitting, one man lay slumped with his throat cut. Two flight attendants had been stabbed. They were still alive, one with an oxygen mask pressed to her face, the other with minor wounds.

At 8:44 a.m., the plane dipped low over New York City.

A flight attendant on board, Madeline Amy Sweeney, was talking on a cell phone to an air traffic controller when she looked out the window and said, Something is wrong. We are in a rapid descent. We are all over the place. And then, before the line went dead: We are flying low. We are flying way too low! A few seconds passed. Oh my God, we are way too low!

At 8:46 a.m., American Flight 11, racing at the speed of nearly 500 miles per hour, rammed into the north tower of the World Trade Center. Ten thousand gallons of aviation fuel exploded, with the force of 7 million sticks of dynamite.

Fourteen minutes later, on board United Flight 175, which was now under Marwans control, a young man named Peter Hanson was making a phone call to his father, Lee, back in Easton, Connecticut.

Its getting bad, Dad, he said. A stewardess was stabbed. They seem to have knives and Mace. They said they have a bomb. Its getting very bad on the plane. Passengers are throwing up and getting sick. The plane is making jerky movements. I dont think the pilot is flying the plane. I think we are going down. I think they intend to go to Chicago or someplace else and fly into a building. Dont worry, Dad. If it happens, itll be very fast. My God, my God.

At 9:03 a.m., United Flight 175 hit the south tower.

Thirty-four minutes later, American Flight 77 dove into the Pentagon.

At 10:03 a.m., United Flight 93 exploded in a field near Shanksville, Pennsylvania.



Cal Spencer had just gotten out of the Cumberland River and was pulling the Zodiacs onto the boat trailers when somebody in the truck said, Jesus, cant anybody turn up the heat? Spencer shook off the mornings cold, grumbled, reached over, and punched a few buttons on the dash. Then he wheeled the truck for home through the lush Tennessee countryside, the trees along the interstate painted with the first, faint brush of autumn.

Spencer ticked off the days tasks: hurry back to the team room, finish up the avalanche of paperwork that always fell on your desk when you finished a training mission, get home, help Marcha make dinner, check in with Jake about his homework, go to bed. Get up. Repeat.

Sandy-haired, wry, with the lanky build of a baseball player, Spencer was usually ready with a sly quip to liven up any dreary moment. But not this morning. The night had been miserable. Hed led eight Special Forces soldiers up the Cumberland River in the dark, using night vision goggles and a GPS. The work wasnt hardSpencer had done this kind of thing hundreds of times, and he was bored. They had delivered their package, a second Special Forces team traveling with them, to the predetermined infiltration point on the river, shut down the outboard motors, and waited.

They didnt have long. Seconds later, the large shadow of a Chinook helicopter appeared over the trees, floated downward, and hovered just feet above the water, a metal insect descended from the heavens, louder than hell, the twin rotors sending mountains of cold spray into the air. The helo was flown by the top-notch pilots of the 160th Special Operations Aviation Regiment (SOAR). SOARs guarantee was that they would arrive thirty seconds on either side of their scheduled time, no matter what, and they had kept their promise. Created in the wake of the 1980 rescue attempt of U.S. Embassy workers in Iran (the Army had determined that poor air support had caused the missions failure), the SOAR pilots lived a secretive existence flying exquisitely planned missions in the worlds hairiest places. They operated from a base situated behind acres of barbed wire in a remote corner of Fort Campbell, a twenty-minute drive down cracked, two-lane blacktop from Spencers own team room. Spencer never knew any of the pilots names and they didnt know his. It was better that way: in case the real thing ever happenedif they ever went to warnobody could compromise anyones identities. Spencers team completed the linkup and he and his men yanked the outboards to life and roared back upriver. Their job was over. Time to get back to the boat landing.


And then they ran into fog. They had to stop the boats because some in the group were blindly bumping into the riverbank. Suddenly, a barge came steaming out of the darkthe big vessel was headed straight for them.

They all sped for the riverbank, wherebetter safe than sorrythey tied up to some low-hanging tree branches and prepared to spend the night.

Spencer hadnt dressed for the cold weather. He sat in the bottom of the boat wrapped in a poncho, teeth chattering, trying to pretend the chill didnt matter. Sergeant First Class Sam Diller found a bunch of life jackets and piled those on top of himself, eight in all, yet still he lay on the boat bottom shivering.

When they pulled up at the boat ramp the next morning, Cal Spencer wanted nothing more than to be curled up at home, martini in hand, watching TV.

He thought that maybe at age forty he was getting too old for this kind of work. As a chief warrant officer, Spencer was the senior man on the team. He was a father figure to the younger guys, and a brother to Diller and Master Sergeant Pat Essex, who had served with him in Desert Storm. Essex was thin, and stern, of good Minnesota stock (he had grown up in California), and wanted to spend his retirement years bird-watching. Sam Diller was from a holler in West Virginia that Cal thought probably didnt even exist anymore. He was also, Cal thought, one of the smartest guys on the team.

They were all good men, and someday, Spencer mused, they might just get a real mission. As he pondered all of this, news of the first plane hitting the World Trade Center broke over the trucks radio.



Marcha Spencer was still at home in bed at Fort Campbell when the phone rang. It was her best friend, Lisa, Dillers wife.

Turn on the TV! she said. Lisa sounded freaked out, and that wasnt like her. She was one of the most poised people Marcha knew, tough as nails.

Marcha flipped on the set and couldnt believe what she was seeing. The first plane had hit the north tower and the building was in flames. Marcha stared at the screen, not comprehending the picture.


Those people, she murmured. And then she thought: Cal. Hell be leaving soon.

Theyre going, said Lisa, on the other end, reading her mind.

The two women immediately tried to figure out where their husbands would be deployed. What country? Who had done this? Cal had a deployment scheduled in a few weeks to Jordan, a training mission with the Jordanian army. Marcha knew thatd be canceled now.

As they were talking, the second plane hit.

Oh my God! the two friends screamed at each other into the phone. Oh my God!

Looking at the TV, Marcha said to her friend, This one really scares me, Lisa. This one feels different. Something, they knew, had just ended, and something had just begun.



Hearing the news of the attacks, Spencer floored the big five-ton truck, double-timing it to Fort Campbell, headquarters of the U.S. Armys Fifth Special Forces Group. The huge post consists of over 100,000 scrubby acres of buckled hills, scorched firing ranges, and humid tangles of kudzu, sixty-one miles northwest of Nashville. The third largest post in the United States, it actually sprawls between two states, the majority of it located in Tennessee, near Clarksville. Fort Campbells post office sits in Kentucky, outside the farming burg of Hopkinsville. The entire area is ringed and quilted by strip malls, franchise steakhouses, discount furniture stores, and cornfields. Spencer imagined Marcha at home watching the news on TV. He knew she was tough, but he didnt know how shed react to the terrible images.

As he drove, he felt sick to his stomach, confused. He was pretty sure that as soon he got back to base, theyd begin packing to leave. Beyond that, everything was a question mark.

The banter in the truck was nonstop.

Can you believe this?

Who the hell did this?

Were going to war, right?

Spencer could only imagine what was going on in those planes. Hed been in firefights, he had seen people killed and torn up and blown away, but this was different. These were civilians.




On September 11, 2001, Dean Nosorog had been a married man for exactly four days, a fact that continued to surprise him. He, Dean Nosorog, from a hardscrabble farm in Minnesota, married to the prettiest girl on the planet!

At the moment the planes hit, he and Kelly were in Tahiti, asleep in their hotel room overlooking a black crescent of beach dotted by palm trees. They got up, had breakfast on their balcony, and decided to go mountain-biking. Dean, madly in love, felt a world away from his real life. The best part was that he had two weeks of this easeful living left. They walked out of the hotel hand-in-hand, oblivious to the first news reports of the attacks playing out on a TV in a corner of the lobby.

As they pedaled up a mountain road, no one passing by would have guessed Dean was a secret soldier in a part of the Army most Americans knew little about, the U.S. Army Special Forces. Sunburned, freckled, with unruly red hair, dressed in cargo shorts and T-shirt, Dean resembled a young pharmaceutical salesman on holiday. He kicked off and sped the bike toward town, yelling to Kelly to catch up.

At the bottom of the hill, they pulled into a tiny French pizzeria and ordered. An American woman quickly walked up out of breath and said, Have you heard? She was in tears.

A plane, she blubbered. A plane just ran into a building in New York.

Dean looked at Kelly, cocking an eyebrow. What?

And there was a second plane, she went on. A second plane hit another building.

Deans face dropped. Hurry, he told Kelly. The two of them raced back to the hotel.

The lobby was now filled with Americans, all of them, it seemed, also on their honeymoon. Dean pushed up to the TV: everybody huddled close, in shock. Dean watched for several minutes and then he turned to Kelly.

Ive got to make a phone call, he said.

He started back toward their room and along the way paused at the front desk, picking up a copy of the International Herald Tribune.

The newspapers headline stopped him cold.


Massoud was dead. The leader of the Afghan people in their fight against the Taliban. The great man had been at war for more than twenty yearsthe ultimate survivor. Now he was dead.

Not Massoud. Assassinated: September 9, 2001. In Afghanistan. Dean felt that the timing could not be an accident.



All week, the Lion had been close to dyinghe just hadnt known it.

Handsome, graying at the temples, with a sharp smile and eyes like black enamel, the Lion had been restless. He had decided he would attack the Taliban that night, September 9. In the camp, men had been loading AK-47 magazines with ammo, sorting and counting RPGs, feeding their exhausted, shaggy horses, whose neighing and snorting caromed off rock walls scoured by cold mountain winds.

Massoud had been fighting the Taliban for seven years andhe had to admitthey were about to win. He was boxed into a tiny slice of the Panjshir Valley, his boyhood home, a verdant swath of hills and violet escarpments, facing death. Taliban and Al Qaeda fighters, with the help of foreign Arabs, were pummeling his resistance forces, their last obstacle to taking total control. Still, he vowed to press on. He would never give up the fight. He would bite and claw at the enemy. He would kill, wound, harass. Ahmed Shah Massoud, the Lion of the Panjshir, an ally of the United States and the CIA during the 197989 Soviet invasion of the country, was the last chance Afghan citizens had to defeat the Taliban.

He had fought the Soviets for ten years, until they retreated in defeat. And then he had fought the men with whom he had fought the Soviets. Thousands and thousands had died on all sides, and Massoud, although revered, had plenty of skeletons in his own closet. Massoud had been at war for twenty-two years.

In April 2001, Massoud had traveled to Strasbourg to ask for international assistance. There, he had said to the press, If President Bush doesnt help us, then these terrorists will damage the United States and Europe very soonand it will be too late. Massoud had been describing the Taliban and a man named Osama bin Laden, the billionaire son of a Saudi construction mogul. No one listened.

That neglect had given bin Laden the summer to organize a secret plan to kill Massoud. The mastermind was a man named Ayman al-Zawahiri, an Al Qaeda commander. Bin Ladens army, totaling some 3,000 trained soldiers, had merged with the Taliban, consisting of 15,000 farmers and butchers, teachers and lawyers. Together, they wanted to return the Middle East to the fourteenth century, into a golden age ruled by Islamic law. A big step toward that great step back would be the elimination of Ahmed Shah Massoud.



In his hotel room, Dean dialed the Fifth Special Forces Group Headquarters at Fort Campbell. He got the answering machine of his battalion commander. Frantic, he left a message. Sir, he said, Im in Tahiti, I just saw what happened on TV. He found himself talking way too fast. I want to talk to you, I want to know what is going on. What do you need from me?

Dean glanced again at the newspaper in his hand. Im looking at the International Herald Tribune. The leader of the Northern Alliance was assassinated, according to this article, by bin Laden.

Dean knew bin Laden and he knew Massoud. The famous guerrilla had been the leader of something called the Northern Alliance, a shaky collection of three Afghan tribes whod fought the Taliban. With Massoud dead, Dean knew that the Alliance would be in danger of falling apart. Massouds assassination and the attacks hed seen on TV this morning must, Dean guessed, be a coordinated assault. He hung up, redialed, and started looking for flights to Fort Campbell.



At his base camp in the Panjshir Valley, Massoud had been on the phone when the assassins arrived, two Arabs traveling on stolen Belgian passports, and posing as television journalists who had cajoled to meet with Massoud for several weeks.

He welcomed the visitors and they seated themselves opposite him. Massoud requested tea for his guests. He had asked to see the list of interview questions while chatting with the cameraman as he set up his equipment. He told them they could begin the interview.

The Arab aimed the eye of the lens at Massouds waist. He switched it on. Inexplicably, the camera flashed with blue fire, choking the room with smoke. The fire leaped straight at Massoud.

As the smoke lifted, Massoud lay bleeding in the charred hulk of his chair, a hole blown through the chairs back.


The cameraman was dead, cut in half by the force of the bomb that had been strapped to the battery pack on his waist.

Massoud had whispered to a bodyguard, Pick me up. Fingers on his right hand had been blown away; his face was a bloody mess. Someone quickly stuffed cotton into his eye sockets. He had been shot through the heart by shrapnel. There was no hope of saving him.

His aides stashed him in a refrigerator at a Tajikistan morgue, and vowed to stay mum. They feared the resistance fighters would lose heart and run.



Within a day of Massouds death, the hills around Konduz echoed with rumors of his passing, carried through canyon and river-wash by handheld Motorola radios. In a trench far north of the city, a young man from California had settled down in the beige, talcum earth and claimed it as Allahs last battleground.

Abdul Hamid knew the final battle was near. He had just marched north with 130 other fighters for 100 miles from the city of Konduz, stepping over rock and thorn in thin sandals, going without food or water, a bandolier of ammunition slung over his shoulder, two grenades stuffed in a bag at his waist, to reach this place of war, the desolate village of Chichkeh. With Massoud rumored dead, they would finish off what was left of the corrupt enemies of Islam.

Abdul was a member of bin Ladens crack unit called the 055 Brigade, part of the larger Al Qaeda army. He had met the great man a month earlier near Kandahar, the birthplace of the Taliban and their spiritual home of studythe word talib is Arabic for student. The training camp, Al Farooq, was frequented by Saudis, by Chechens and Pakistanis, the very best of the most serious martyrs drawn to the searing light of bin Ladens message. Some of the camp followers had achieved martyrdom in the previous several years by bombing embassies in Nairobi and Saudi Arabia, even an American warship named the USS Cole in Yemen. These righteous attacks had killed many people, Americans among then.

His comrades, Abdul knew, had died in order to drive the dirty infidel, the Jew, the Christian, the Buddhist, the atheist from the land of Muhammad, which was Saudi Arabia, the hard-rock cradle of Islam, the holy cities of Mecca and Medina. After the bombing of the USS Cole, which killed seventeen sailors and injured thirty-nine more, Abdul had e-mailed his mother and father in California that the ships presence in the Yemenese harbor had been an act of war. Abduls father was deeply disappointed that his son felt this way. But he also knew that there was nothing he could do to change his mind. He felt that his son was long past the point of being influenced by a fathers opinions.

Bin Laden had made it clear in his fatwashis edictsthat it was an insult for the infidel to have based his soldiers in Muhammads land after the first Gulf War, what the Americans called Desert Storm. As a result, every American, bin Laden claimed, must be killed wherever he was found.

Abdul Hamid knew that bin Laden dreamed of an ancient world of Islam coming back to life. Violent jihad would be his time machine. Abdul Hamid had come to Afghanistan eleven months earlier to help the Taliban in his fight.

At Al Farooq, soldiers-in-training were taught to shoot a rifle, throw a grenade, use a compass, and poison water, food, and people. Abdul had heard bin Laden speak at the camp. One of the men at Al Farooq had approached Abdul and asked if he wanted to carry the struggle to Israel or the United States. It would be easier for him to serve as a sleeper agent in such places than it would a dark-skinned Saudi or Pakistani. Part of Abdul Hamid was still a boy from Marin County, a young man who had sold his CD collection of rap music to pay for his ticket to the land of jihad. Part of him still wanted to go home and see his father, a lawyer, who had named him after John Lennon, and his mother, who had home-schooled him and loved him when other kids made fun of him. What he heard today, though, troubled him. There had been an attack, a big one, in the United States. Martyrs had flown jet airplanes into some buildings. They had killed thousands and thousands of Americans. He had told the bearded man, No. His fight was here, in Afghanistan, with the Taliban. He did not want to kill Americans.

The tiny speakers of the Motorola radios in the trenches around Abdul squawked the news: The world in flames, America tumbling down.



Major Mark Mitchell walked into the packed mess hall at Fort Campbell just as the first scenes of the attack were playing out on a TV mounted in the big room. Mitchell nearly dropped his fork as the news sunk in. There were about seventy-five guys inside, and theyd fallen silent as they stared at the monitor. Mitchell had just come from morning physical training out on the parade field, playing Ultimate Frisbee with the men in the support company. He was standing there holding his mess tray with an omelet, biscuit, and salsa on top, when he heard the reporter on TV explain that a Cessna, or some kind of other small plane, had flown into the World Trade Center.

That was not a Cessna, Mitchell said. And no commercial pilot in the world would fly into a building. Hed be ditching in the Hudson River.

Some of the younger guys at one of the tables started snickering, announcing that the footage had to be a prank.

Its a clear, blue sky day, Mitchell went on, theres not a cloud in the sky.

Its an accident! somebody else said.

Mitchell turned and shouted: Shut up! This is not a joke. This is not a laughing matter! The depth of emotion startled even him.

The younger soldiers shut up. Seconds later, the second plane hit.

Mitchell hurried out the door and across the parking lot, under the scraggly oak trees, across the burnt grass, and up the concrete steps to his office.

As the operations officer for Third Battalion, Fifth Special Forces Group, it was Mitchells job to help make sure that the group was ready to mobilize to anywhere in the world within ninety-six hours. The groups main theater of operations was the Middle East, under the command of Central Command (CENTCOM) and General Tommy Franks, down in Tampa at MacDill Air Force Base, and he knew the folks in Florida would already be making plans.

When Mitchell turned down the hall, he saw his fellow staff officers standing around looking stunned. He could tell already that everybody was running on all cylinders, but with nowhere to go. He wondered what theyd look like by the end of the day.

Mitchell found another group of them standing around a TV in the conference room upstairs, watching the towers burn. A staff officer walked up and told him the Pentagon had just been hit.

Mitchell couldnt believe it.


The towers had been a matched pair, but the attack on the Pentagon, in a different city, nearly simultaneouslythis raised the game to a different level.



By the time Greg Gibson, a helicopter pilot, passed through the guard gate at the 160th SOAR headquarters, he had heard enough on the radio to realize the crash was not an accident. Walking into the hangar, he told his crew to get ready to break down the Black Hawks and twin-rotored Chinooks for travel.

Gibson knew they were going to war.



Mitchell rushed back down the stairs to his bosss office, Third Battalion commander Lieutenant Colonel Max Bowers, to update him on what he knew.

Bowers had been at home finishing a shower when he heard news of the attacks delivered by his five-year-old son standing in the bathroom.

Dad, the young boy said, a plane just flew into a big building in New York! Really! His son had been watching TV in another part of the house and Bowers hadnt heard any of the reports.

Bowers, wrapped in a towel, smiled, ruffled his sons hair, and told him not to joke about something like that, then he hurried to get dressed for work. On the way, he turned on the radio in the car.

Bowerss short salt and pepper hair was still wet from the shower as he gravely listened to Mitchell report the strike on the Pentagon. Mitchell could tell Bowers was upset, and he knew Bowers was not one to scare easily. A powerfully built, forty-two-year-old career officer, he was smart and articulate. In Bosnia in 1999, Bowers had snuck into the war-torn country by commercial flight, a risky move in contravention of U.S. policy at the time (Congress would eventually authorize U.S. troops on the ground). Once there, Bowers had called back to Fort Bragg on a payphone at the airport to say, Im in, and then hung up. He proceeded to help guide the air war by spotting targets from the ground. The mission was a success: Nobody had gotten hurt but the bad guys. Instead of a demotion, upon his return Bowers was secretly applauded.

Bowers told Mitchell that there were reports coming in from the Department of Defense in Washington on the red sideclassified e-mailand that, for the moment, the plan was: there was no plan.



Mitchell hurriedly left Bowerss office to call Maggie.

Where are you? he demanded.

Im driving, said Maggie. Ive left the post.

Get back here. Now!

She could tell Mark was worried, and that had her worried.

Maggie, a mother of two, had left to do some errands at Target in the mall. Shed left their older girl, age three, with a nanny, and had taken the younger, age two, with her.

Did you hear what happened? Mark asked.

Oh, Mark, I was listening to the radio

You need to get home and get in the house.

Without further thought, she wheeled the Ford Explorer around and headed back in the other lane. It was nine thirty in the morning.

Because security had been tightened at Fort Campbell, each car was now painstakingly searched at the front gate. Normally, Maggie would have been able to flash her drivers license at an armed soldier at the gate and drive on. Traffic was now backed up for at least a mile on Highway 41A, all the way from a place called Sho-West, a strip club, to the Army surplus store and pawnshops outside Gate 4, the posts main entrance. There were nearly four thousand families living on base, and it seemed every one of them was trying to get back home.



Cal Spencer and his team got back from the Cumberland River around midmorning, then promptly ran smack into the same traffic jam that had snarled Maggie Mitchell. Sam Diller got out of the truck, stood bowlegged in the middle of the road, and looked up and down the long line of cars coming and going from the fort. The snarl was particularly bad because of a concrete barrier cutting off a lane.

We can get through, said Sam. We just need to move one of these barricades.

Spencer agreed. He and Sam and a couple other guys on the teams bent down and heaved ho.

I dont think you should be doing that, said an approaching guard from the 101st Airborne, the regular Army. He had an M-16 slung across his chest. He looked scared by the mornings events.

Guys like Spencer and Sam had spent their Special Forces careers avoiding the regular Army. And now here was this kid, afraid to break the rules when it made sense to break them.

They ignored him and kept grunting until the cement divider was moved.

Spencer ran back to the truck, drove it through, and then helped the others push the big chunk back into place. Then they sped past the Fort Campbell bank, the PX, the Kentucky Fried Chicken and Taco Bell, to Third Battalion Headquarters. Spencer felt he was seeing all of these ordinary sights for the very first time.



As the morning wore on, from his office at Fort Bragg, North Carolina, Major General Geoffrey Lambert was working the odds.

The son of Kansas Mennonite farmers, Lambert, at fifty-four, was the commanding general of United States Army Special Forces Command (USASFC), which was composed of 9,500 men spread across the world in different geographic zones. Fifth Group ran the Middle East and Africa. Seventh and Third Groups, based at Bragg, operated in Latin America, interdicting narcotraffickers and insurgencies. Tenth Group was based in Colorado and operated in Europe. (Lieutenant Colonel Bowers had been part of Tenth Group when he went into Kosovo.) The Pacific Rim, Indonesia, and the Philippines fell under First Groups oversight, based in Fort Lewis, Washington. The other groups, Nineteenth and Twentieth, which were made up of National Guard soldiers, went wherever they were needed. These groups formed a wide net cast by highly secretive men.

Lambert knew that Fifth Groups bell had just been rung.

It had taken him about ten seconds to figure out who had masterminded the attacks, and who had carried them out. For the past several years, he had observed a top-secret intelligence program called data mining that had identified one man, an Egyptian by the name of Mohammed Atta, as a serious terrorist with links to a Saudi named bin Laden, who was a financier of terrorist training camps for men like the Egyptian. Months earlier, the people involved in the program had tried telling the FBI what they had discovered, but Army lawyers had discouraged the disclosure, even though the project had identified the hijackers. Lambert figured they knew everything there was to know about Osama bin Laden and his military training camps in Afghanistan, but none of the legal minds could decide if the surveillance was lawful. Now Lambert felt sick that more effort had not been made to warn someone. (Lambert, extremely upset, later agreed with lawyers that the information not be shared with the FBI.)

Usually, there was a contingency plan on the shelf at the Department of Defense for invading a country. But when it came to Afghanistan, Lambert knew that no such plan existednothing, not one scrap of paper describing how you mobilized men and weapons to take down the place. Since the end of the Cold War, U.S. military planners had been floundering in the backwash of old conflicts, unsure of how to prepare for imagined threats from unfamiliar enemies.

The attacks were, to Lamberts mind, perfect examples of the kind of violence that the future held for Americans. They had come quickly and cheaply, carried out by a small number of men communicating by mobile phones and the Internet. The damage had equaled that which mightve been achieved by an entire army, yet it had cost only a half million dollars to inflictsmall change, all things considered.

Lambert had been a hard-charging U.S. Army Ranger, serving ten years in the jungles of Latin America, fighting all kinds of insurgencies, great and small, secret and public, when hed left to become a Special Forces officer. Being a Ranger, he said, was a fine thing, but being in SF was a lot finer.

Lambert was resolved to get his guys in this new fight, though he figured that General Tommy Franks, the CENTCOM commander, would never consider them a viable option. Franks didnt understand Special Forces soldiers, nor did he really like them. Few officers in the big, regular army were fond of this secretive branch of independent-minded warriors. Over the past several years, funding for Special Forces had been cut, and few people outside the community realized that many of the teams lacked the equipment they needed. Hell, a lot of the teams didnt have a full contingent of menshort a medic here, a weapons specialist there.


Vietnam had done them in. During that war, the men of Fifth Group grew their hair, slept in hammocks, took native women as girlfriends, and lived and fought in the jungle far beyond the reach of anyones official control. They had also committed some of the conflicts worst atrocities.

In the late 1980s, the unit was shunted into deeper twilight, providing what was called FID, or Foreign Internal Defensea euphemism for training the armies of foreign governments. Other missions, such as serving as policemen on Native American reservations, had been more routine. Desert Storm had provided the first use of Special Forces in combat since Vietnam, much to the initial chagrin of General Norman Schwarzkopf, whod seen their dirty work while commanding in Southeast Asia. The SF guys werent particularly happy with their assignment; hunting SCUD sites was, they figured, the kind of soldiering better suited to gung-ho Marines, the publicity-savvy Navy SEALs, or the Armys secretive counterterrorism unit, Delta Force. They were masters at the snatch and grabdoor-kicking, Lambert called it. Let these other troops handle hardware hunts and scavenger forays.

Special Forces trained to do something different from everyone else. They fought guerrilla wars. This fighting was divided into phases: combat, diplomacy, and nation-building. They were trained to make war and provide humanitarian aid after the body count. They were both soldier and diplomat. The medics worked as dentists, fixing the teeth of local villagers; the engineers, experts at the orchestrated mayhem of explosives and demolition, were trained to rebuild a villages bridges and government offices. They spoke the locals language and assiduously studied their customs concerning religion, sex, health, and politics. Their minds lived in the dark corners of the world. Often, they were the senior ranking American officials in a country, hunkered down in the dirt drawing out a water treatment plan with some warlord and acting as Americas de facto State Department.

The SEALs and the regular Army generally studied none of a countrys languages, customs, or nuances. Special Forces thought first and shot last. They were the velvet hammer. Lambert knew that in the history of the United States, Special Forces soldiers had never been given the chance to fight as a lead element.


To get them off the bench and on the field was going to take considerable backchannel maneuvering. The U.S. Army had zero interest in deploying a bunch of cowboys in Afghanistan who had served as inspiration for the best scenes in Apocalypse Now.

Lambert was banking on the cooperation of the CIA and its covert ties in the country. During the 197989 Soviet occupation of Afghanistan, the Agency had funded the mujahideenfreedom fighters. Of all the diplomatic and military branches of the U.S. government, the CIA had kept the closest watch on Afghanistan. It was the go-to authority. It was also the progenitor of U.S. Special Forces.

After World War II, the OSS (Office of Strategic Services) had disbanded and its members migrated into either what eventually became the Central Intelligence Agency or into Special Forces. The unit itself wasnt officially formed until 1952, as the First Special Forces Group, adopting a red arrowhead with a dagger down the middle as its emblem. The symbol was not a haphazard choice. The World War II Army soldiers who had fought as guerrillas had drawn their inspiration from the Apache Scouts of the nineteenth century. They had survived behind German and Japanese lines by relying on the goodwill of the friendly people they encountered. Often outgunned and outnumbered, they ambushed instead of employing frontal assaults. They harassed supply trains. They attacked in several places at once and vanished into the woods. They followed none of the regular rules of warfare. Relishing their lethal craft of stealth and surprise, these World War II soldiers even nicknamed themselves the Devils Brigade, sneaking into German trenches in the night and slitting the throats of a surprised enemy. Daylight would reveal a chilling scene: paper arrowheads left on the foreheads of the dead men.

Earlier, in the American Revolution, this homegrown brand of war had been practiced by Ethan Allen in the northeastern states and Francis Marion, aka the Swamp Fox, in the South. A particularly rough group of marauders named Rogers Rangers had terrified the British with their lightning raids. The credo of the band was simple: Let the enemy come till hes almost close enough to touch, then let him have it and jump out and finish him up with your hatchet.


Lambert relished the prospect that his soldiers would be called to fight this kind of war. He was also worried. The men were untested. Once he launched them, quick rescue would be impossible.



By midday, when Mitchell checked with Bowers, there still was no plan. The order stayed the same: Be ready to leave at a moments notice. As Mitchell walked the halls, he heard the crackle and burble of the same news playing on the radios and TVs. Each minute seemed trapped in the endless looping of one moment: the towers falling, the towers falling. By late afternoon, the day felt like it had lasted for a year.

When it was clear nothing more was going to happen, that no plan for action was forthcoming from Washington, Mitchell decided to go home. He pulled into his driveway well after dark, staring at the lights burning in the windows of his trim brick ranch house. He and Maggie lived in a far corner of Fort Campbell, in a place called Werner Park that was filled with deer, bordered by woods, and populated by officers and their wives. The day before, September 10, he had returned from a trip out west, ten days in a rental car spent pulling into ranchers driveways, asking whether the U.S. Army could use their property for a war game. A game. He shook his head at how much had changed in one morning.

Mitchell got out and walked across the lawn, flipping and reflipping the interior switch that all men reach for who are not violent but who live in a violent world.

Warrior/Father.

Warrior/Father.

Father.

He pushed open the door and kissed Maggie. I will do anything to protect this place, he thought.



Cal Spencer arrived home at the end of the day in his ratty secondhand Mercedes and swept Marcha up in a hug when he walked through the door.

I cant believe it, he said quietly.

She felt him tense as he said this. She stepped back and looked at him.

Youre going away, she said.


He nodded. Yeah.

When?

I have no idea.

Marcha knew that soon Cal would walk around the house looking for things that usually he had no trouble finding, like his life insurance policy. Hed grow short-tempered, and hed talk about what would happen to her and the boys if he didnt come home, if he got killed on this deployment. She never liked having this conversation, and her refusal always led to a fight, usually a bad one.

Cal kissed her and went into the garage and started packing, pulling stuff off of the metal storage shelveshis sleeping bag, his CamelBak for drinking water, his headlamp. He was worried how their sons were going to take the days attack. Their oldest was living in Mississippi and working at a job he liked. He was going to be fine. Luke, the middle child and a high school junior, kept his feelings inside, like Cal did. Jake, the youngest, a sophomore, was easygoing. He wanted to be an actor or a comedian. Cal and Marcha worried about him the least.

So when Jake walked through the door after school and Cal saw the quizzical, sad look on his face, he knew that this leave-taking was going to be hard. He knew that Jake had spent the day at school hearing about the attacks in New York, and that hed imagined the worst for his dad.

Are you leaving, Dad?

Yeah, I am.

Jake nodded and kept walking down the hall to his room.

Cal started to follow him, but stopped. Hed leave him alone for now.

He imagined Jake in his room in front of his Nintendo. He was pretty sure he wouldnt be playing a war game, where your bullets rarely ran out and a wound to the chest was just a momentary inconvenience. The boy had had enough of war, with his dad gone almost half his life. How in the world, Cal wondered, can a man love his family and want to go to war at the same time?



President George W. Bush appeared on TV the next day, September 12, and declared war on Al Qaeda. Over the next twenty-four hours, a military response began to emerge. Tommy Franks proposed to Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld and President Bush that America invade Afghanistan with 60,000 troops. He explained that such a massive migration would take six months.

Donald Rumsfeld hated the plan. I want men on the ground now! he said.

In response, CIA director George Tenet proposed sending in CIA operators with Special Forces soldiers. At Special Operations Command, this alternate plan was refined and sent back up the chain to Rumsfeld. At Fort Campbell, Mitchell and Spencer followed the developments closelyin the news and in the battalion hallways. Dean, still in his hotel in Tahiti, felt cut off. He was spending a good part of each day on the phone trying to book a flight back to the States. On September 14, he and Kelly finally arrived back in Clarksville. When he took her to a team picnic to meet everyone, his battalion commander walked up and shook her hand and said, Welcome to Special Forces. Your husband will be leaving soon.

Several days later, for the first time in American history, President Bush approved a plan using Special Forces as the lead element in the war in Afghanistan.

The plan involved using massive American airpowercruise missiles and laser-guided bombsto blast the Taliban out of the country. U.S. Special Forces on the ground would spot targets, build alliances among the locals, and whip them into fighting shape. The Afghan Northern AllianceMassouds old fighting force of several tribes led by different warlordswould make up the bulk of the ground power. The CIA would grease the wheels, many of them unturned in years, with money and intel, and help the SF soldiers link up with the Afghans.

General Franks had spent part of the week holed up in a room at the Sheraton Hotel in Tashkent, Uzbekistan, convincing the countrys president to let the United States base its troops in the former Soviet Republic. Beset by Islamic terrorists of their own called the IMU, the Uzbekis had not been an easy sell, but Franks had succeeded.

On September 18, to a packed White House cabinet room, President Bush announced: The war starts today.



Naturally, the plan was classified, top secret.

Mitchell, Spencer, and Dean started arriving at work at 4 a.m. and stayed until midnight. Birthday parties, anniversaries, normal life were canceled. Nothing mattered except the wargetting ready for the war, planning to survive the war, and coming home alive. All the men believed Fifth Group could be deployed at any hour. Nobody went anywherethe mall, the dentist, the movieswithout leaving a cell phone number with the staff person in charge. Teams went to the firing range and shot thousands of rounds of ammo at pop-up targets. They practiced patrolling, ambushes, winter survival techniques. They marched, lifted weights, and, in the absence of real intel (they were told CIA analysts at Langley were working on it), read anything they could find about Afghanistan on the Internet. They cleaned weapons, took inventory of broken equipment, and made lists of the necessary gear.

They needed a lot, so much so that it was embarrassing. Their group commander, forty-five-year-old Colonel John Mulholland, had taken charge of the soldiers just two months earlier, after a staff posting in Washington, D.C., and a stint as a student at the National War College. He was working around the clock to meet the needs of his men. Tall, massively built, with the intense, pinched gaze of someone who did not suffer fools, Mulholland had served during the 1980s under General Lambert as a Special Forces lieutenant in Latin America, and hed worked as a Delta Force operator in the mid-1990s. He assured each team that they could have whatever new equipment they needed. After much cajoling and pressuring on his part and Lamberts, the Pentagon had agreed to pull out the golden credit card.

There was no time to requisition supplies the old-fashioned way, so new methods were created. Sergeant Dave Betz and his staff called camping stores like REI and Campmor and bought all the socks and tents they had on the shelvesliterally everything in stock. Same with the clothes, and when the dealers ran outas they did with a particular black fleece jacket everyone wantedthe guys called North Face headquarters and bought direct. There were soldiers perusing back issues of Shotgun News magazine and ordering pistol holsters and ammo magazines for AK-47s. They bought CamelBak water hydration systems, thermoses, water filters, tan winter boots made by a company called Rockys, duffel bags, Iridium satellite phones, generators, tool kits, compressors, electric conversion kits to convert 12-volt DC to 110-volt AC, camp stoves, fuel, and headlamps. Staff guys carried new radios and laptops and PDAs into team rooms, gizmos the men had never seen before. The guys liked the lightweight Garmin Etrex GPSsthe military GPS being heavy and the size of a writing tabletand couldnt purchase enough, ordering them all over the country, three hundred to four hundred at a time. A supply sergeant would e-mail a supplier, I want all your GPSs. Hold them. And they bought batteries. One of Betzs men personally drove over to an enormous store near Fort Campbell called Batteries Plus, bought every double-A they had, and drove off with them in the trunk of his car. As he departed, the sales clerks stared slack-jawed at their empty racks.

Everything not in car trunks and backseats was shipped overnight by FedEx, the delivery trucks pulling up to a gray two-story building that resembled a grain elevator balanced atop a warehouse. The place was called the Isolation Facility, or ISOFAC. There, the equipment was stacked along walls on aluminum palletspalletizedand each bunch was covered with a waterproof material nicknamed an elephant rubber. The covering was meant to protect the gear during the long plane journey to a place called Karshi-Khanabad, in Uzbekistan, a staging base, also top secret. Everybody called it K2.

On September 18, Lieutenant Colonel Bowers announced: I need a man for a secret mission.

Stepping forward was a seasoned master sergeant from New Hampshire named John Bolduc, nicknamed the Skeletor, after the He-Man comic book superhero. Shy, quiet, thin as a whip, Bolduc held the record for finishing a grueling eighteen-mile rucksack march required to pass Special Forces selection in just three hours. It took most people eight to cover the distance. At the time, Bolduc had actually had to wake up the guys in the lead van; they hadnt expected anybody to show up until dawn. They thought Bolduc was kidding when he told them he was done. Bolduc was not a kidder.

At Fort Campbell, the master sergeants men would follow him anywhere, even off the edge. He would emerge from the woods during the teams fun runs, sprint off a high rock ledge, and drop fifty feet to the quarry water below, still pedaling in the air, looking over his shoulder to make sure his team was following him. If they were, he knew he was doing a good job.


The irony, given his dedication, was that Bolduc had recently put in for retirement after eighteen years in the Army. In fact, hed received some of the official paperwork on September 11. His fellow soldiers tried to talk him out of leaving, but he would have none of it.

I only have one reason for retiring, he told them then. I have a teenage daughter who doesnt know me and I dont know her. Bolduc had added up the years to discover hed spent half of his daughters life away from home, deployed to godforsaken snatches of sand; winning, but losing, too.

Still, he was torn. Hed jumped into Panama as a Ranger in the takedown of Noriega, but this was the big time. As a soldier, you lived for wars like this.

As he stood before Bowerss desk, the battalion commander asked Bolduc, Are you retired yet?

No, sir, not yet. For once, the Armys glacial pace of dealing with paperwork had opened the door instead of closing it.

Are you ready for a mission?

I am.

I cant tell you where youre going. But plan as if youre going into combat.

When do I leave?

Tonight.

Several hours later, Bolduc was standing on the airstrip at Fort Campbell, clutching a rucksack loaded with Claymore mines, hand grenades, radios, and ammo magazines. Most intriguing was the getup hed been instructed to wear during the mission. The disguise, consisting of paisley bell-bottom pants, a blue nylon shirt, and a funky slouch hat, was designed to make him look like an American hipster on parade in a former satellite of the Soviet Union. But after trying on the clothes, he decided that what he really looked like was a seventies porn starand he stashed the duds in a closet at home. He now stood nervously on the tarmac in Levis, flannel shirt, and hiking boots, waiting for his adventure to begin. A white Citation jet with no tail numbers swooped down out of the sky, rolled to a quick stop, and picked him up.

Twenty-four hours later, Bolduc was in Uzbekistan, at K2, a desolate piece of real estate oozing chemical waste, misery, and the rank bloom of failure. The Russians had used the place to stage their failed ten-year war in Afghanistan against the likes of Massoud and his men, the fabled mujahideen fighters. The Russians had gotten their heads handed to them, losing 50,000 men in the war. Historians credited their defeat as one of the causes of the collapse of the Soviet Union, one final and fatal proxy battle between the United States and the USSR in the Cold War.

Bolducs job was to help redesign this flat, muddy ground as the new secret home for a group of soldiers determined not to repeat the Soviets mistakes, a place from which the entire fury of Americas military could be unleashed on the Taliban. Bolduc had never done anything like this in his lifehe wasnt an engineerbut he fully intended to try. This was the Special Forces way: You improvised like mad.



The CIA was doing its part, too. On September 19, paramilitary officer Gary Schroen loaded three cardboard boxes, each packed with $3 million in hundred-dollar bills, into an unmarked Suburban, and headed off to see his boss, Cofer Black, at CIA Headquarters in Langley, Virginia. The money was meant to bribe the Afghan warlords that the Special Forces troops were to work withrough, mercurial characters with names like Abdul Rashid Dostum, Atta Mohammed Noor, and Mohammed Mohaqeq. For the past decade or more, they had fought each other for control of their country. Schroen would be flying to Afghanistan with the money that day, aiming to convince them to work together to kick the Talibans ass. He was doubtful of the outcome. You cant buy an Afghans loyalty, he thought, but you sure can try to rent it.

Cofer Black was very specific about another aspect of Schroens mission. Writing later about the conversation, Schroen would recount Black saying, I have discussed this with the President, he said, and he is in full agreement. You are to convince the Northern Alliance to work with us to accept U.S. military forces. But beyond that, your mission is to exert all efforts to find Osama bin Laden and his senior lieutenants and to kill them.

I dont want bin Laden and his thugs captured, Black explained. I want them dead. Alive and in prison here in the United States, theyll become a symbol, a rallying point for other terrorists.

And then Black shocked Schroen: I want to see photos of their heads on pikes. I want bin Ladens head shipped in a box filled with dry ice.

I want to able to show bin Ladens head to the President. I promised him I would do that. Have I made myself clear?

Schroen believed that he understood the mission.



The following day, Cal Spencer got the call. As the CIA built up alliances with different Afghan tribes, the Air Force would conduct its air war. Spencers team, the Pentagon had decided, would provide combat search and rescue (CSAR) for bomber pilots whod been shot down by the Taliban. During the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan, the United States had supplied Stinger missiles to the anti-Soviet mujahideen fighters. After the Soviets retreat, the Taliban had emerged from the ranks of these highly trained soldiers. The United States had turned a blind eye to the radical religious beliefs of some of its favored mujahideen, and now it would pay the price. The extremists had become terrorists, anxious to use the Stinger missiles against U.S. soldiers.

CSAR was a heady mission, and Spencer had spent years training for it as a young sergeant at Nellis Air Force Base in Las Vegas. He and his team would be working behind enemy lines on a thin wire of support. If anything went wrong, they were on their own. They welcomed the challenge, but there was one problem: their team didnt have a captain. A week earlier, Captain Mitch Nelson had been kicked upstairs to Fifth Group Headquarters, promoted out of the job he loved, following the teams return from a training mission.

Nelson, thirty-two, the son of a Kansas rancher, was miserable in his new staff position. He hated office work, but if he expected to move up in rank, he had to punch his ticket and slay the beast that was administrative paper shuffling. The worst part was that one of his best friends, Dean, still had a year of team time left (each captain got two years), and now Dean for sure was going to get into the fight while Nelson would be wielding staplers and paperclips.

Nelson wanted in, too. He spoke Russian; hed recently been in Uzbekistan with Spencer and the rest of the team. He was itching for this.

He paid a visit to Lieutenant Colonel Bowerss office.


Sir, he said. I need to be back on my team.

Bowers looked at him and said, flatly, No.

Like the other men he had served with on the team, Nelson was stubborn and independent, and he had chafed under Bowerss command. He figured that his request was denied because the lieutenant colonel did not like him. In fact, when it came time to select the teams for the CSAR mission, Bowers had nominated another group of men in his battalion. Spencers team had gotten the CSAR mission only because other teams had recommended them so strongly to Colonel Mulholland. Bowers had grudgingly obliged.

Feeling the urgency of the moment, Spencer and Master Sergeant Essex also appealed to Bowers on Nelsons behalf: We really need him, they said. Bowers, either convinced or resigned, gave Nelson his job back.

Youve got six hours to leave, Bowers told the two men. They had an airplane inbound that very minute to take them to K2, in Uzbekistan.

Essex had no idea where Nelson was, and it was his job to make the trains run on time. He called Nelson on his cell phone, getting the voice mail. The young captain and his wife were in Nashville at an obstetricians office. His wife was expecting a baby in two months, and Nelson, an excited father-to-be, had turned the phone off before going in to the appointment.

Hey, man! Essex yelled into the phone. You need to get back here, like right away!

Essex was unsure of how to proceed over a nonsecure phone line, so he said, Because wereleavingnow!

He hoped like hell Nelson would make it back to the team room in time.

He need not have worried. Several hours after it was ordered, the mission was canceled. There was no explanation for the change in plans (and there never would be). The team was ordered not to travel more than an hours distance from the post. Deflated and dismayed, the men stood down. They could conquer any enemy but one: the men who pulled the levers at the Pentagon. For now, all they could do was wait.




But not for long. On October 4, they got the call for real: The mission was on. As before, no explanation was given.

Before they left, Major General Lambert flew down from Fort Bragg to address the crowd. Digging into the pocket of his crisp camouflage pants, he removed a piece of jewelry. Most of the soldiers had only heard of this special item: the gold ring of war. A chipped ruby blinked back at them as Lambert held it aloft.

This ring has been through hell and back, said Lambert, worn on the hands of men who are dead or retired, men whose work wont be talked about for years, if ever.

Lambert knew the rings history well. Back in 1989, as a young commanding officer, hed asked one of his sergeants to take part in something called the Expert Infantrymans Badge Test: Five days of running, shooting, and shitting in the woods.

Lambert had asked the sergeant to take the test as a show of his leadership among the men under his command, and the man had passed, but just barely. Lambert, impressed that the sergeant hadnt quit, had given the guy his own Expert Infantrymans Badge, which hed had displayed in a frame on his office wall.

Without pausing, the sergeant had taken off a ruby ring he was wearing and thrust it out to Lambert.

Here, well trade. This damn things been in Bolivia, Panama, Vietnam, Thailand, Pakistan, Belgian Congo, Bosnia, you name it, he said. Then he smiled. Now its yours.

Lambert decided that henceforth the ring would be carried into battle or on a mission during each SF deployment. The only caveat was that the man chosen to wear the ring of war had to bring it home safely. It was a bit of voodoo, military-style.

As he looked out at the conference room, Lambert remembered one man in particular who had worn the ring five years earlier. The man had appeared to be in excellent health, but then surprisingly failed a routine physical fitness test. Within a week, doctors diagnosed him with Lou Gehrigs disease. Within days, he couldnt even use his hands.

Lambert had arranged for an immediate medical retirement and his fellow soldiers painted the ring wearers house, helped him sell it, and moved his family to a new city to be closer to relatives. The ring stayed behind.


Several months later, Lambert received a phone call from the guys wife. She had said he was depressed.

Is it okay if I put you on speakerphone? she asked.

Lambert, choked up, said sure.

He hadnt known what to say at first. He imagined his old friend sitting in his wheelchair, frozen, unable to move or speak. They taught you a lot in Special Forces, but nothing had prepared him for this.

Youre a great man, Lambert had said. And I admire you.

His wife narrated her husbands reactions. Hes smiling! she said. He seems happier.

Lambert spoke for a bit longer, then he hung up, thinking, Im going to fix this. He packaged up the ring and sent it to her. Tell him to put this on, he wrote. I want him to have it.

But there was no returning from this mission. The man had put the ring on and sat in his wheelchair and he stared at it, mute, trapped. When he died, he still had it on. His wife gave the ring back to Lambert, telling him, He would want you to have this.

Now, gazing at the men before him, Lambert asked them, How will you die? I want you to think about that.

It was not a rhetorical or even moral question. Part of each teams mission was to consider the ways in which it could be annihilated, in order to avoid such a fate.

He handed the ring to the officer in charge of the meeting, and said, Give this to your best man. Make sure he brings it home.

John Bolduc had come home from the prewar planning trip to Uzbekistan on September 22, and Sharon, his wife of seventeen years, and his teenage daughter, Hannah, sat down together and talked about his retirement. Bolduc told Hannah that he felt they didnt know each other, and he said he was still hoping to change that. But now that chance would have to wait. He was going away, he said. But he promised to come back. It was Bolduc who was given the ruby ring.

They went to the video store and rented some movies for his last night at home. Husband and wife laid on their bed, with Hannah between them, and stared at the screen. Sharon told him, You know, I could just jump on your legs and break them, and you wouldnt have to go. She was only half kidding.




Lying in bed, Marcha Spencer looked over and asked her husband if he was awake. Then she asked where he was going tomorrow. Could he tell her? she wondered. She already knew the answer.

You know I cant tell you that, said Spencer.

In truth, Marcha didnt want to know any geographic specifics; all she really wanted to know was whether or not Cal would survive.

Lying there, Cal next to her, Jake asleep in his room down the hall, it had been a good life, but stillshe never said anything, not out loud, you couldnt. She burned at the lack of recognitionnobody, and she meant nobodyknew exactly what dear Cal Spencer did when he went away on his missions. He came home sunburned, sand in his pants, ready to get back in the swing of family life, walking around with a screwdriver in his hand, looking for things to fix. My God, during their twenty years of marriage, hed been absent for at least half of it. The sum never failed to stun her. Ten years of No Cal! She and the boys would get along, she knew that. They would grow old together, she and the boys, and Cal would be gone. But who would know what he had done with his life? The Army never let them say anything about their missionswhen Cal came home, there was no welcoming party at some sunny airport, with a brass band playing and the TV cameras rolling. What Cal Spencer did when he was away would forever be a mystery. What she and the boys endured remained hidden from everyone.

In the past, Cal had had dreams of dying in the desertsome desert, any desertbut not tonight. He steered his mind to the sound of the crickets outside. They sang above the whir of air conditioners up and down the block.

He figured that Death was out there, a black dot on the horizon. Either you would pass it by, or not. Until that time, there was little use worrying.

He tried not to think about being killed, but he had the feeling that if it was going to happen, it would happen with this deployment. He had read enough intel to know how the Taliban treated their prisoners. The biggest thing was not to get captured. Hed decided he would not be taken alive.

Cal Spencer fell asleep, knowing he might never again sleep in his own bed.




The following day, Marcha dropped him off at Fifth Group Headquarters. Cal leaned in the car window and looked at her.

I love you, he said. And Ill be back. He smiled.

Okay.

Marcha was crying as she drove off.

The parking lot was the scene of all kinds of turmoil. Ben Milo told his oldest teenage son, Youre the man of the house. You make sure you make things as easy as possible. The boy started sobbing.

Lisa Diller drove away dry-eyed. Shed been cleaning the house the night before, and all day today, right up until it was time to drive Sam to headquarters. Whenever Sam deployed, Lisa cleaned. It was her way of dealing with the stress of her husbands leave-taking, her way of saying goodbye.

They had been through just about everything together. Sam had come home from the Battle of Mogadishu in Somalia in 1993, dropped his duffel bag in the living room, and said, shakily, Im home. Lisa took one look and she could tell he was falling apart. She nursed him back. But at least he had returned. As she drove home now, her stoicism melted and she broke down. Coming into the kitchen of the ranch house, she poured a beer and got into the hot tub and soaked in the thick, new silence of the house. It was going to be a long, long winter.



Late that night, October 5, Spencer crawled on board a converted school bus. The vehicle rolled across the post, the windows blackened so no one could see inside. There were few people to look; the neon of the Kentucky Fried Chicken restaurant was dark, the bank sign blinked for no one except the enormous eye of the waning moon. Cold wind blew trash across the street. Few of the guys talked, the buss heavy springs squeaking beneath them. Steadily, it rumbled onto the airfield.

Shouldering his daypack, Spencer stepped off the bus into the roar of the C-130s four huge engines.

The planes rear ramp was down, its belly palely lit. Together, the men leaned forward through the prop blast, clutched their black watch caps, and trudged up the ramp. They buckled themselves in and the plane shuddered beneath them, its green nose hunting in the dark over the tarmac, hunting speed, lift, release.


Spencer felt the deck beneath him lighten and drop and knew he was airborne. Aloft, with the sides of the plane cooling in the darkened heavens, he swallowed an Ambien, reached into his pack, and unrolled a foam sleeping mat on the frozen aluminum floor. There in his pack he found the letters Marcha had written him, each one numbered and dated, indicating when he should open them.

He opened them all at once and started reading hungrily: Dear Cal, I have never told you how much I love you

Once done, he placed each letter carefully back in his pack. He lay on the humming deck of the plane and fell asleep, floating over the Atlantic, heading east, into the dawn, to the secret base in Uzbekistan.



Before Dean took off, he and Kelly went for a drive on a perfect, sunny Sunday afternoon. Winterand Deans departureseemed an impossible thought. The blue autumn sky looked as if it had been polished with a hank of velvet. Back at their tiny apartment, moving boxes were still stacked to the ceiling.

They hardly talked as they drove country roads for several hours. At the parking lot next to the church, the scene of so many departures over the years, Kelly finally dropped Dean off. He dragged his rucksack upstairs to the team room, then ran back downstairs and out the door to Kelly. He had to see her again. There she was, still standing beside the car, looking so beautiful, and scared.

When hed set his sights on her two years earlier, hed been a student in the Special Forces Qualification Course at Fort Bragg, and because he couldnt get enough language study there (he spoke fluent Russian), he decided that once a week hed drive to Chapel Hill, an hour away, and take a conversational course in Russian at the University of North Carolina.

One night, a pretty girl with curly red hair had walked into the classroom and taken a seat next to him. Taking one look at her, Dean felt himself turn to jelly. So, he stammered, uh, why are you taking this class?

Im planning a career in international business, she said. The way she said this, so confidently, made him think, I am going to marry this woman.

Their courtship was a whirlwind. Early on, Dean had to leave Fort Bragg briefly and he spent night and day fretting that Kelly would forget him while he was gone. He ordered a florist to send her flowers in his absence. He wrote her letters in advance and arranged for them to be delivered.

He proposed marriage six months later during a visit to her familys home in New Hampshire, standing beside her fathers grave. Dean firmly believed that if the old man were alive, heDeanwould be honor-bound to ask permission to marry his daughter.

I wish you couldve met him, Kelly said.

Dean suddenly got down on one knee and turned to her fathers headstone: Sir, with your permission, he said, and then he pivoted and looked up at Kelly.

Kelly, he asked, will you marry me?

Now, saying goodbye to her after being married less than a month, he lifted her hands and said, I love you. He walked away backward, looking at her. He turned and climbed the steps to his team room, his new combat boots ringing on the metal stairs.

The entrance door slammed shut behind him.

Dean paused on the steps to collect himself. Part of him wished that he was good with words so he could have written something for her, letting her know what a lucky guy he was to have met her.

He jogged to a hallway window on the second floor and looked out, but she was gone.

He shouldered his gear and walked into Fort Campbells prison-like Isolation Facility.



Dean disliked ISOFAC for its mind-numbing seclusion but also loved it for its promise: To enter ISOFAC was to sit in waiting for your violent birth into war.

ISOFAC was a closed world within the tightly held universe of the post itself. Guards manned the gate in the chain-link fence, tipped with concertina wire. From the outside, it was a windowless jumble of metal-gray blocks. The ugly architecture suggested that everything important was going on in the inside, which was no doubt true.

The building was divided into two levels, with the sleeping quarters in the top floor. On the first floor, Dean walked through the main planning room, which was sparsely furnished with desks, chairs, and several dry-erase boards mounted on cinder-block walls. The walls pulsed a dazzling white under banks of fluorescent lights. Each team was allotted two roomsone for planning its mission and another for sleeping. Each planning room contained chairs and desks, a fifteen-foot-long chalkboard, and a continuous roll of four-foot-wide butcher paper that fed through an easel. The Spartan sleeping room consisted solely of twelve bunkstopped with thin, brown plastic mattressessquared smartly along the walls.

Down the hall was another room for hand-to-hand combat training, with padded walls and wrestling mats on the floor. At the end of the hall was the arms room, where weapons were locked up, and a gym with weights, and the cafeteria. It was as spare as a new prison. The odd-looking tower that rose from the clutter of metal, lending the air of a defunct chimney, was used to rig and pack parachutes.

No talking was allowed in the hallways.

There were six other teams in the Isolation Facility, including John Bolducs. (Among various teams, OD-A 555, Triple Nickel, would land near the Panshir Valley shortly after Nelsons touchdown in Dehi, making Nelson and his men the first U.S. soldiers to enter Afghanistan.) Because the teams were not supposed to talk with each other, they sat elbow to elbow at cafeteria tables during meals, drinking the gritty Kool-Aid (the cooks could never get the stuff mixed right), pretending the others were not in the room. They were forbidden to speak in order to maintain a separation among the teams missions. If one of the teams was captured and tortured, they would have little to tell the enemy.

CIA analysts appeared and visited some team rooms and not others, though they had little to share this early in the war. A few days earlier, on October 7, the U.S. Air Force had started bombing Taliban soldiers dug in throughout Afghanistan. As Dean studied maps of the country, measuring roughly the size of Texas, he saw that it was a surreal contradiction of 17,000-foot mountain peaks, vast desert, and squiggles of green rivers flowing through forested valleys. He learned from intel reports that the bombing campaign was proving to be a challenge. Flying at 20,000 feet over snowcapped mountains and expansive khaki-colored plains, it was difficult for the pilots to designate their targets (the threat of antiaircraft fire prevented lower-altitude flights). It was clear to Pentagon officials that the pilots needed boots on the ground to guide the waysooner rather than later. They needed guys like Dean.

Dean would hear one of the CIA guys pad down the hall, knock on a teams planning room door, and close it gently behind him with a soft click. Dean burned with the desire to hear that knock on his teams door. He studied whatever he could get his hands on about Afghanistan, including Ahmed Rashids book Taliban, and scraps of classified intel about a warlord named Abdul Rashid Dostum, who reputedly was tolerant of both prostitution and opium production in his camp, and with whom the CIA was hoping to do business. Another warlord was named Atta Mohammed (unrelated to the hijacker, with whom Atta Mohammed, because of name simliarity, was sometimes confused). In comparison to Dostum, Atta Mohammed was a pious Muslim.

Using his laptop in the teams planning room, Dean searched for more information about these two shadowy men, as well as whatever he could find about bin Laden and Al Qaeda. But there wasnt much hard intel immediately available. One day, an ISOFAC staffer dropped off an armload of tattered National Geographic magazines and a few Discovery Channel television shows on VHS tape about the history of Afghanistan, and when Dean asked, Whats that stuff? the guy replied, Consider it more intel.

It dawned on Dean that the U.S. government was woefully under-prepared to send him and his men into Afghanistan. The country had not been lately in anyones intelligence bulls-eye. When Dean finally did hear the CIA analyst knock on his door, the briefing was anticlimactic and he learned little that he didnt already know. Thankfully, someone had gotten the idea of phoning the publisher of a book called The Bear Went Over the Mountain, about the Soviet experience in Afghanistan, and asked that they send 600 copies. The publisher no longer even stocked the book and had to scramble and send an electronic version to a printing plant, from which fresh copies were express-shipped to the ISOFAC. Dean was pleased when it arrived. He went to sleep each night plugged into his earphones listening to a Barry White CD and poring over the tome.

After a week in isolation, he felt he was as ready as he ever would be. On October 13, he was asleep in his bunk when the lights in the room snapped on. Dean sat up, swearing and rubbing his eyes.


Hurry up! yelled an ISOFAC staff member. You guys are moving out! The plane is here!

Well, that plane didnt just fall out of the sky, groused Dean. Whos the genius who didnt call ahead and say, I am about to land?

An hour later, he was airborne.



They left in quick succession. The day before his departure, Mark Mitchell had stayed up until 2 a.m. writing a list of things for Maggie to do in his absencePay $300 to this credit card every month until its paid. If it gets paid off and Im still gone, add the $300 a month to the savings account. Hed spent the last few days getting the carpets cleaned, fixing the garage door, tightening the loose faucets in the bathroom. Nothing was left to chance. Maggie freely admitted she couldnt fix anything and Mark was happy to oblige. I may not be handsome, he joked with her, but I sure am handy. She thought he was the handsomest, most honest man in the world.

Shed met him at Fort Stewart in Georgia, where she was teaching grade school and he was a lieutenant in the Army. They dated for a month, and Mark asked her to accompany him to a family wedding in Milwaukee. While they were dancing, he proposed. Maggie, surprised, said, Youre drunk, arent you?

Yes, but will you marry me?

Ask me again in the morning when youre sober.

He did, and she accepted.

Married now for ten years, she loved it that he still had something interesting to say. Hed graduated from the Jesuit Marquette University in Milwaukee, with a degree in engineering. As a teenager, hed gotten up at four in the morning to deliver his paper route and then clean the bar of an Irish pub in downtown Milwaukee. By eight oclock he was in school.

In high school he ran cross country, played football, and wrestled. He had a quirky sense of humor. He loved to play the piano and knew most of Ray Charless numbers. He liked Sting and the Talking Heads. He loved Coen brothers movies. He had an artistic side that Maggie rarely saw except when he was taking photographs.

His humble demeanor disguised brute strength. Mark could lift himself hand-over-hand forty feet up in the air, with sixty-five pounds of field gear on, while down below, as he clung on the rope, other guys were bent over their knees, vomiting into the cinders. Mitchells training had taught him to ignore pain and mental exhaustion. It taught him to pay attention to nuances, to what a man says and what he doesnt say. It taught him to think about using his brain first, his weapon next. During his deployments, he had tried to set aside his ideas of how he thought Pakistanis, Jordanis, Saudis would act, and to listen and observe what they actually said and did. He hoped to do the same with the Afghans he would encounter.

The son of a federal prosecutor, Mitchell had grown up listening to stories of his fathers exploits. Back in the 1970s, Milwaukee was at the center of the burgeoning U.S. heroin market. He had admired his dads courage, and never forgotten that he lived in a world where there were bad people, and it was a just thing to punish them. Hed entered the military to prove himself in such a world, what Maggie called his Hoo-ah macho stuff.

After fours years as an infantry officer, he found Special Forces and it changed him. He loved who they were, what they did. They were the best kept secret in the world. It seemed the Navy SEALs got all the publicity, with a new movie every summer about some cool shit they had blown up in a fictional South American country. Even the Delta Force, which the U.S. Army didnt officially acknowledge as existing, got more press than Special Forces. None of the guys in SF had ever written a book, which was fine with them. They knew the public spotlight only helped the enemy target you more easily. There was a Special Forces bumper sticker around Fort Campbell that read: THE QUIET PROFESSIONALS. They joked about itHey, man, were the quiet professionals, delivered with their best DJ voicebut they meant it, too.

Around four oclock in the afternoon on October 24, Maggie and the girls dropped Mark off at the church parking lot. He picked up his daughters, one in each arm, and told them he loved them. Hed spent the day in the house watching the Disney Channel with the girls. Theyd played tag in the yard. For lunch, theyd gone to Burger King. All the while, hed been anxious.

The key was to keep life normal. More than anything, he wanted to get the leaving over with. He expected to be gone six months, maybe a year. All his gear, his rucksack with his food, sleeping bag, a change of brown desert camo fatigues, his ammo and weapons, was packed neatly in a pallet on the plane waiting at the airfield. In a small knapsack slung over his shoulder he carried a Nalgene bottle with water, a toothbrush, a razor, and some old issues of U.S. News & World Report, the only newsmagazine he could ever find time to read. All that was left to do was to walk on the plane.

Mark boarded the bus and rode out to the airfield to the C-17 grumbling against its anchors on the runway. After less than six weeks of preparation, he and the rest of the Fifth Group were ready to take down a country.

Twenty-four hours later, he stepped off in the dark at K2, in Uzbekistan, the sky engorged, oozing the milk of a new starlight.

He was in. Game on.
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